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Los Angeles Superior Court 

AUG 31 2012 

John A. C186eeutive Officer/Clerk 
By
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, Deputy 

Email: cJassactioncompLaint(?gmail.com  

Phone:  (855) 525-2922 
(818) 386-0000 

Fax: (818) 380-0100 

Attorneys for Plaintiff and 
The Class Members 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY - CENTRAL DISTRICT 

UNLIMITED JURISDICTION 

Michael Nathan; individually and on  ) CASE NO:  
BC 4 91 3O 

behalf of all others similarly situated,  ) 
) 

) 

Plaintiffs, ) 
) 

) 

Vs.  ) 
) 

) 

Fry’s Electronics, Inc.; Nuance  ) 
Communications, Inc.; Vladimir  ) 
Pleskov; Syed N. Fahad; John Fry; Dave) 
Fry; Randy. Fry; and John Doe 1; John ) 
Doe 2; and DOES 1 TO 100, Inclusive; ) 

) 

) 

Defendants.) 
) 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR: 

1. Violation of Consumer Legal 
Remedies Act, Civil Code §1750; 

2. Violation of the Unfair Competition 
Law, Cal. Bus. & Pro. Code § 17200; 

3. Fraudulent Inducement; 
4. Breach of Express Warranty, 

California Commercial Code:U., 
S. Breach of Contract; 
6. Breach of the Impli 

Good Faith and Faiu  lpig. 
7. Violation of CaliforniCiiiI 

§1723; 
8. Violation of the False 

Advertising Law; Cal. tus. 
Code § 17500; 
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fl 

1 
 I. Introduction 

2 
 

Plaintiff Michael Nathan brings this Class Action Complaint, 

3 ("Complaint") against Defendants Fry’s Electronics, Inc., ("Fry’s’); Nuance 

4 Comm(inications, Inc., ("Nuance"); Vladimir Pleskov, ("Vladimir"); Syed N. 

D Fahad, ("Fahad"); John Fry, (’John"); Dave Fry, ("Dave"); and Randy Fry, 

6 ("Randy") for their practice of defrauding, misleading, misinforming and 

7 misrepresenting consumers through deceptive design and policies and sale of 

’8 their software and products. Plaintiff for his Complaint alleges as follows 

9 upon personal knowledge as to himself and his own acts and experiences and, 

10 as to all other matters, upon information and belief, including investigation 

ii conducted by his attorneys. 

12 
 

For the ease of this Complaint, Plaintiff at times will refer to John; 

1. 3 IDave; and Randy as the "Fry Brothers". 

14 
 

Ii. Nature of Action 
15 1. Nuance is a multi-national software products developer that through its 

16 
 

Spech Recognition Software claims a person can have a "personal 
17  assistant"; "a faster way to get more done on computers"; "to control your 
18 
 

Personal Computer, ("PC") by voice"; "to keep up with your brains"; "to 

19 
 

be productive on-the-go"; "to work comfortably, anywhere"; and with 
20 
 

"less stress at home, work, or. wherever life take you", "Dragon works the 
1  way you work". 

22 2. At issue in this lawsuit are several of Nuance’s Naturally Speaking 

23 
 

Software Products that claim to be a person’s personal secretary and with 
24 
 

99% accuracy, it will recognize every speech and improve productivity. 
25 3. Dragon Naturally Speaking, ("Dragon") is software developed by 
.6 
 

defendant Nuance who claims through Speech Recognition, Dragon 

ignites new levels of productivity by letting user interact with his/her PC 

by voice, now with even greater freedom and flexibility. Dictate or modify 
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1 
 

documents, spreadsheets and presentations, send email, search the Web, 

2’  and more. Even capture notes on the go using a digital recorder and 

3 
 

Dragon will transcribe the audio files back at your PC. Breeze through 

4 ’  Your "to-do" list faster than ever before  just by talking - whether at home, 

in the office, or on the go! 

4. Defendant Nuance further claims that with its Dragon Speech Recognition 

7 
 

Software "simply speak to change how you work, communicate, create 

8  and live. Dragon Naturally Speaking has been designed to turn your talk 

9 
 

into text faster and more accurately than ever before. Just speak your mind 

10  to capture ideas, create content, cruise through email, search the Web, or 

11  control your PC. Unleash your inner Dragon today with Dragon Naturally 

12 
 

Speaking." However, what Defendant Nuance does not tell the Consumers 

13 
 

like Plaintiff is that Nuance does not recognize every speech especially 

14  those with accent. 

15 IS. Defendant, Fry’s is multi-national retailer of computers, consumer 

16  electronics, and appliances with some 35 stores in about 10 states. The 

17  chain’s extensive inventory includes computer software and components, 

18 
 

industry magazines, movies and music, refrigerators, washers and dryers, 

19  small appliances, stereo equipment, and televisions. Each store also 

20  typically stocks a variety of snacks and other impulse items. The techno 
21  gcek’s dream store began in 1985 as the brainchild of CEO John Fry with 
22 
 

brothers Randy and Dave and VP Kathy Kolder. The Fry Brothers, who got 
23  their start at Fry’s Food and Drug Stores, still own the company. 

24 6. Fry’s likes people to buy its products, but they hate customers. At the 
25  checkout counters, Fry’s employees have no problem taking customers’ 
26  money, but at the time of a refund, same customers are subject to 

interrogations and manipulation and they are treated like they have 

committed some sort of a crime for returning a defective or faulty product 
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1  or a product that does not perform as advertised. Usually, these customers 

 

2  are either denied their refund, or are forced to replace the product for an 

 

3  identical one or are mandated to take store credit for items that consumers 

 

4  cannot use or do not perform as advertised. 

5 7. The employees who work at Fry’s typically have no training and are 

 

6  frequently encouraged to mislead, misinform, and misrepresent the facts 

to consumers. For example, if a customer asks a Fry’s employee regarding 

 

8  the refund policy on a product, the employee’s respond often if not always 

 

9  is that if "you have your receipt; you get full refund within 30 days of 

 

10  purchase’. Or if a customer inquires about the performance of a product, 

 

ii.  Fry’s employees without any knowledge, training, or experience are 

 

12  required to answer that the product "is the best in the market and top of the 

 

13  line and performs perfectly". 

 

14  III. Plaintiff’s Experience with Dragon Software and Fry’s Employee 
15 8. Due to nature of Plaintiff’s occupation, Plaintiff is required to conduct 

 

16  both internet researches extensively and to read and type comprehensively 

 

17  pages of materials on daily basis, seven days a week. 

18 9. Plaintiff was introduced to Dragon through Nuance internal marketing 

 

19  department. Plaintiff was contacted by a marketing director who was 

 

20  attempting to sell Dragon Software at the rate of $3,500.00 to perform all 

 

21  serices as enumerated in paragraphs 1 through 4 hereinabove. However, 

 

22  Plaintiff informed the Nuance’s representative that prior to investing such 

 

23  large amount Plaintiff needed assurance that the product would perform as 

 

24  represented. The Nuance representative directed plaintiff to purchase a 

 

25  retail store version at a local retailer similar to Fry’s Electronics and to 

 

26  test the performance and in the event Plaintiff was satisfied, upon 

 

27  investing the $3,500.00, Nuance would credit plaintiff for the full 

purchase amount of the store version. 
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110. On or about August 11, 2012, Plaintiff visited Defendant Fry’s Burbank 

location and while was purchasing another item, Plaintiff inquired from 

one of Fry’s employee if he was familiar with the Dragon Speech 

Recognition Software. The employee acting like he was the creator of the 

Dragon, admired the software, eulogized it and to make Plaintiff’s life a 

lot easier, recommended that Plaintiff to purchase the Dragon Software, 

and in the event Plaintiff was not satisfied return it for a full refund. In as 

much as Plaintiff was pessimistic, Plaintiff agreed to purchase it as trial 

basis at the recommendation of Fry’s employee. 

Ill 
 

When Plaintiff returned to his office, he began reading the manual that 

was packaged with the Dragon Software. Plaintiff as instructed loaded the 

software and proceeded to follow the direction. However, upon 

conclusion of the software set up, Plaintiff followed the instructions of the 

program and began reading short stories so the program with familiar 

itself with Plaintiff speech. Nonetheless, Plaintiff continued reading and 

reading pages of articles and Stories to train Dragon software to recognize 

Plaintiff’s speech and accent. Beginning from a short story to reading 

hours, then days, Plaintiff spent more than two weeks at 3-5 hours per day 

reading materials and articles to enable Dragon Software to recognize 

Plaintiff’s speech and accent, at no avail, Plaintiff on August 25, 2012, 
decided he has had it and decided to return the Software for refund. 

12. The software has a feature enabling the program to be trained in the 

event the speaker has an accent. Plaintiff from August 11., 2012, to August 
24 
 

25, 201.2, trained the software feature to recognize Plaintiff’s accent 

25  without success. Thereby, Plaintiff realized that the software does not 

26  perform as promised both by creator of the software, Defendant Nuance 
27  and the employee who convinced Plaintiff to purchase it at Fry’s store. On 
2 8  August 25, 2012, Plaintiff decided to return the product to place where he 
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1  purchased it, the Defendant Fry’s, Burbank location. 

113.  In reality, Nuance’s description of the Dragon utility serves as the 

3 
 

initial phase of a fraudulent scheme to induce consumers into purchasing 

4 
 

its products. Although its software is technologically complex, the 

5  paradigm used by Nuance to defraud consumers is simple. First, Nuance 

6 
 

describes its Dragon as software that will serve as personal assistant’s 

functionality by "a faster way to get more done on computers"; "to control 
8  your Personal Computer by voice"; "to keep up with your brains"; "to be 

9  productive on-the-go"; "to work comfortably, anywhere"; and with "less 

1.0  stress at home, work, or wherever life take you", "Dragon works the way 

1.1  you work". Induced by these representations, the consumer purchases the 

12 
 

Dragon. After installing and running the software, the consumer is then 

13  encouraged to register and electronically transmit personal information to 
1.4 
 

Nuance support department. 

15 14. The Dragon then invariably reports, in ominous fashion, that user must 

16  read into the software a short story into the software to familiarize the 

17  software with user’s speech and accent. The user is then offered to speak 

18 
 

hours into the software. However, as explained more fully herein, the 

19 
 

Dragon’s diagnostic testing procedure does not perform any credible 
20  evaluation of consumer’s speech and accent. Instead, Nuance intentionally 

21 
 

designed the Dragon to always report that a user need more training, it is 

22  a never ending process. 

23 115 . The process described above is repeated each time a user runs the 
24 
 

Dragon. After the user has been exhausted with the software time after 

time, Nuance does not offer a refund and it recommends the user to return 

the software where it was purchased knowing since the software had been 

r  opeied it would not be returnable. 

16. Nuance holds itself as a reputable leader in the "Speech Recognition’ 
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1  i rid ustry .... i.e., software that enhances and assists a consumer’s ability to 

2  speak into his PC rather than type. Because average consumers lack the 

3  requisite technical expertise to understand the underlying operations of 

4  Nuance’s Dragon Software, they trust the company to convey truthful 

.5  infoimation about its products, and for its products to honestly and 

 

6  accurately assist a user with speaking into their PC rather than wasting 

 

7  time typing them. Nuance betrays that trust, and as a result thousands of 

 

8  consumers have been, and continue to be, tricked into paying for its 

 

9  defective Dragon software. 

17. On or about August 11, 2012, Plaintiff tendered to Defendant Fry’s the 

 

11  sum of $249.99 including 8.75% sales tax, for a total of $271.87 in the 

 

12  form of cash to purchase the Dragon Software. While Plaintiff was at the 

 

13  register purchasing the Software, plaintiff asked Defendant Fahad about 

 

14  the store return policy at which time Mr. Fahad represented to Plaintiff the 

 

15  policy permits 30 days for full refund with the original receipt. The same 

 

16  refund policy was echoed by the employee who assisted Plaintiff with 

 

17  Dragon Software and convinced Plaintiff to purchase it since Plaintiff had 

 

18  nothing to lose except hours of typing and searching the net. 

 

19  IV. Plaintiffs Experience with Defendant Fry’s 
20 18. On or about August 25, 2012, Plaintiff returned to Burbank Pry’s to 

 

21  return the Dragon Package for full refund. Upon examining and analyzing 

 

22  the package by Angel Shabbain, ("Shabbain"), Pry’s employee, she 

 

23  inquired the assistance of her supervisor, Defendant Plcskov, for an 

 

24  approval. Mr. Pleskov again examined and analyzed the content of the box 

 

25  and then began interrogating, and mocking the Plaintiff. Defendant 

 

26  P[eskov indicated that since the package was opened it was against the law 

 

27  to accept open software; hence, he could not issue a refund. Plaintiff 

 

28  informed Defendant that in order to use the product, Plaintiff had to open 
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1.  the package. Without opening the package, Plaintiff would not experience 

2  that the software was not performing as advertised. Defendant Pleskov 

3 
 indicated again that he could not accept the item because it was against the 

4 
 federal law since it had been opened. Plaintiff advised Defendant that both 

5  sales employee, and the cashier, Defendant Fahad represented that 

Plaintiff would receive full refund if returned within 30 days with original 

receipt. Defendant Pleskov indicated "1 don’t care who told you what, the 

8  return policy is written on the back of the receipt." 

9 19. dn or about August 11, 2012, Defendant Fry’s did not post its return 

10  policy at a conspicuous place at the entrance of its store. More importantly, 

11 
 Defendant Fry’s did not have a copy of its return policy posted at any of its 

12  cash register, especially the cash register where Defendant Fahad was a 

13 
 Cashier wherein Plaintiff purchased the defective Dragon Software. 

1.4 20 
 

On or about August 11, 2012, Defendant Fahad and the sales person 

15  who assisted Plaintiff with the purchase of the Dragon Software did not 

16 
 

have proper training as to the refund policy of Defendant Fry’s. 

1.7 21   On or about August 25, 2012, while employee Shabbain was ready, and 

18  willing to refund Plaintiff’s money, her supervisor Defendant Pleskov was 

19  not properly trained as to the applicable statutes and store refund policy. 

20 22   Fry’s holds itself as a reputable leader in the retail industry and it 

21  advertises that its customer service is exceptional. Fry’s trains its 

22  employees to represent to the consumers that it would fully refund 

23  customers’ money upon return; however, when customers are actually 

24  returning a defective product; a product that does not meet customer’s 

25  standard or it does not perform as advertised; Defendant Fry’s denies 
26  refund by claiming it is a law violation, manipulate the facts, lies to 

consumers and mock the customers. 

28 23. Defendant Fry’s misinforms, deceives, and manipulates customers by 
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I 
 telling them it is against federal law to offer a refund on software once the 

2 
 package has been opened. Fry’s knows or should have known that it is 

3 
 providing false information about federal laws. Fry’s is currently not in 

4 
 compliance with regard to offering refunds on software. Fry’s will either 

5 
 not offer a refund at all, or only offers a "refund" as part of an exchange 

6 
 

for the exact same item. This doesn’t qualify as a refund. Fry’s is 

7 
 perpetuating false information, stating that federal law prohibits them 

8 
 

from offering a refund on returned opened software. This is simply a lie 

9 
 

being told to Plaintiff and general public. 

V. jurisdiction and Venue 

ii 24 
 

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action 

1.2  pursuant to California Civil Code §§§ 1711, 1723, 1780 and 1.781, and 

13 
 

Business and Professions Code §17200 to 17500. 

14 25   This Court has proper jurisdiction over this action pursuant to §410.10 

of the California Code of Civil Procedure. The violations of law 

16 
 complained of herein occurred in this county. Furthermore, the amounts in 

17 
 

controversy exceed the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

18 1126. Venue is proper in the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles 

19 
 

pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure §395 and 395.5. 

20 
 

VI. Plaintiff 

21 1127 
 

Plaintiff is an individual residing within the City of Granada Hills, 

22 
 

County of Los Angeles, and State of California. 

23 
 

VII. Defendants 

24 28. At all times relevant, defendant Fry’s Electronics, Inc.; was and is a 

25 
 

California Corporation registered with the California Secretary of State 

26 
 

under Corporation Number C1270788 and is doing business in this 

District. 

28 
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1 29. At all times relevant, co-defendant Nuance Communications, Inc.; 

2  was and is a California Corporation registered with the California 

3 
 Secretary of State under Corporation Number Ci 953609 and is doing 

4 
 

business in this District. 

130. At all times relevant, co-defendant Vladimir Fleskov; is an individual 

6  employed by defendant Fry’s. Mr. Pleskov resides in the County of Los 

.7 
 Angeles, State of California. 

131 
 At all times relevant, co-defendant Syed N. Fabad; is an individual 

employed by defendant Fry’s. Mr. Fahad resides in the County of Los 

10 
 

Angeles, State of California. 

11 32. At all times relevant, co-defendant John Fry; is an individual 

12  employed by Defendant Fry’s in capacity of Chief Executive Officer and is 

13  the owner and shareholder who implemented and created illegal refund 

14  policies whereby Defendant Fry’s operate its business. 

:15 33. At all times relevant, co-defendant Dave Fry; is an individual 

16  employed by Defendant Fry’s in capacity of Corporate Officer and is the 

17  owner and shareholder who implemented and created illegal refund 

18  policies whereby Defendant Fry’s operate its business. 

19 34. At all times relevant, co-defendant Randy Fry; is an individual 

20  employed by Defendant Fry’s in capacity of Corporate Officer and is the 

21.  owner and shareholder who implemented and created illegal refund 

22  policies whereby Defendant Fry’s operate its business. 

23 1135. At all times relevant, co-defendants, John Doe 1, and John Doe 2 are 

24  unknown male employees of the Defendant Fry’s. John Do]. and John Doe 

25 
 

2 reside in County of Los Angeles, States of California and are being sued 

26 
 under the fictitious names John Doe 10 through 100. The true names of 

John Dol. and John Doe 2 will be amended as soon as Plaintiff discovers 

F,.’ 
 the identities of said defendants. 
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1 36. The true names and capacities of those Defendants including Fry’s; 

2  Nuance; Pleskov; Fahad; John; Dave; and Randy sued herein as DOES 1 

3  TO 100 inclusive are presently unknown to Plaintiff, who therefore sues 

4  these Defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this 

5  Complaint to allege the true names and capacities of these Defendants 

6  once same have been ascertained. 

7 37. Each reference in this Complaint to "Defendant" or "Defendants" or 

8  "Co-defendant" or "Co-defendants" or to a specifically named Defendant 

9  refers also to all Defendants sued under fictitious names. 

10 38. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that at all times 

11.  herein mentioned each of the Defendants, including all Defendants sued 

12  under fictitious names, and each of the persons who are not parties to this 

13  action but are identified by name or otherwise throughout this Complaint, 

14  was the alter ego of each of the.remaining Defendants and was the agent 

15  and employee of each of the remaining Defendants and in doing the things 

16  herein alleged was acting within the course and scope of their agency and 

17  employment. 
18 39. Each of the defendants sued herein was in some manner responsible for 

19  the actions which form the basis for this complaint as set forth 

20  hereinbelow. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that 

21  at all times herein relevant, each of the defendants and co-defendants was 

22  the agent and/or employee of the remaining defendants or co-defendants, 

23  and at all times were acting within the purpose, furtherance, and scope of 

24  said agency and/or employment. 

25 40. Each defendant herein is sued individually as a conspirator and aider 

26 

 

 and abettor, as well as in such defendant’s capacity as an officer and/or 

director or employee and agent of one and another, and the liability of 
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1  each arises from the fact that he, she, or it has engaged in all or part of the 

2  unlawful acts, plans, schemes, or transactions complained of herein. 

3 
 VIII. Commerce 

4 41. The acts and practices of Defendants alleged in this complaint have 

5 
 

been in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is defined in Section 4 of 

6  the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §44. 

’7 
 IX. CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE §378 

8 42. (a) All persons may join in one action as plaintiffs if: 

9 
 (1) They assert any right to relief jointly, severally, or in the 

10  alternative, in respect of or arising out of the same transaction, 

ii  occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences and if any question of 

12 
 law or fact common to all these persons will arise in the action; OT 

13 
 (2) They have a claim, right, or interest adverse to the defendant in 

14  the property or controversy which is the subject of the action. 

15 
 (b) It is not necessary that each plaintiff be interested as to every cause 

16  of action or as to all relief prayed for. Judgment may be given for one or 

17  more of the plaintiffs according to their respective right to relief. 

18 
 X. CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE §379 

43.  (a) All persons may be joined in one action as defendants if there is 

20  asserted against them: 

21 
 (1) Any right to relief jointly, severa’lly, or in the alternative, in 

22  respect of or arising out of the same transaction, occurrence, or series of 

23  transactions or occurrences and if any question of law or fact common to 

all these persons will arise in the action; or 

25 
 (2) A claim, right, or interest adverse to them in the property or 

26  controversy which is the subject of t.he action. 

28 
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1.  (b) It is not necessary that each defendant be interested as to every 

2  cause of action or as to all relief prayed for. Judgment may be given against 

3  one or more defendants according to their respective liabilities. 

4 
 

(c) Where the plaintiff is in doubt as to the person from whom he or she 

5 
 

is entitled to redress, he or she may join two or more defendants, with the 

 

6 
 

intent that the question as to which, if any, of the defendants is liable, and 

 

7  to what extent, may be determined between the parties. 

 

8 
 

X. CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

 

9 
 

44.  Pursuant to California Civil Code §1781 and California Code of Civil 

Procedure §382, named Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and 

 

i. 1.  all other persons similarly situated. 

 

12 
 

’45.  The class that Plaintiff represents (hereinafter the "Plaintiff 

 

13 
 

Class") is composed of all persons who have or have had at any time 

 

.1.4 
 since August 01, 2008, purchased a Dragon Speech Recognition 

 

1.5 
 

Software from Nuance, its subsidiaries, online stores, retailers, or any 

 

16  other authorized vendors of Nuance in the State of California. 

 

17 
 

1146 .  Additionally, the Class that Plaintiff represents (hereinafter the 

 

18 
 

"Plaintiff Sub-Class") is composed of all persons who have or have had 

 

19  at any time since August 01, 2008, their refund refused, denied, or 

 

20 
 

forced to accept store credit or forced to exchange for the same 

 

21  products that was initially returned as defective, not working on 

 

22  consumers’ PC or did not perform as advertised. 

23 47. This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a class 

 

24  action under Code Civil Procedure §382 because there is well-defined 

 

25  community of interest in the litigation and the proposed class is easily 

 

26  ascertainable: 
a. Numerosity: The putative Class Members as defined are so numerous 

that joinder of all the members of the Class is impracticable. While 
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1  the precise number of Class Members has not been determined at this 

2    time, Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendants, Nuance and 

3  Fry’s are believed to have in excess of 1.00,000 Dragon Software 

4  purchasers and about 50% have been returned to Fry’s for full refund 

1 5  who refused to honor their refund. 

6  b. The named Plaintiff is informed and believes and on that basis 

7  alleges that the Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class are so numerous that 

8  joinder of all members would be impracticable. The exact size of the 

9  Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class and their identities are ascertainable 

10  from the business records of Defendants. 

i!1  c. Commonality: There are questions of law and fact common to the 

12  Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class that predominate over any 

13  questions affecting only individual members of the Class. These 

14  ’ common questions of law and fact include, without limitations: 

1.5  1. Whether Defendant Nuance was aware that its Dragon software was 

16  not performing as advertised, albeit intentionally deceived 

1.7  consumers into purchasing its products; 

18  ii. Whether Defendant Fry’s, did not properly trained its employees in 

19  respect to the appropriate statute in respect to a refund; 

20  iii. Whether defendants Fry Brothers implemented and designed 

21  policies in respect to refund to mislead and to deceive the 

22  consumers; 

23  iv. Whether the representation of Defendant Pleskov that knowingly 

24  advises consumers that to accept open software is a federal law 

25  violation constitute an unauthorized practice of law; 

26 

 

   v. Whether representation of defendant Fahad that a customer has 30 

days to receive full refund with original receipt constitute a policy 

28  implemented by Defendant Fry’s and must be enforced; 
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I  vi. Whether Defendants Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Pleskov and 

2  Fahad’s conduct described herein constitute fraudulent 

3  inducement; 

4  vii. Whether Defendants Nuance, and Fry’s conduct described herein 

5     constitute a breach of express warranties under the-California 

6  Commercial Code §2313; 

7  viii. Whether Defendants Nuance and Fry’s conducts described 

8  herein constitute breach of contract; 

9  ix. Whether Defendants Nuance and Fry’s conduct described herein 

110  constitute a violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law, Cal. 

1:1  Bus. & Prof. Code §17200, et. seq.; 

12  x. Whether Defendants Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brother, Pleskov, and 

13  Fahad misleading, misinforming and deceiving Plaintiff, Plaintiff 

14  Class and Sub-Class constitute violation of Cal. Civ. Code §1750; 

15  xi. Whether Fry’s conduct, as described herein, violates Cal. Civ. 

16  Code §1723; 

17  xii. Whether Fry’s adequately advised consumers of its return policy; 

18  xiii. Whether Fry’s conduct as described herein, violates the 

19  consumer Legal Remedies Act; 

20  xiv. Whether Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Pleskov and Fahad’s 

21  conduct as described herein, constitute a fraudulent Business 

22  practice under UCL; 

23  xv. Whether Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Pleskov and Fahad’s 

24  conduct as described herein, constitute an unfair Business practice 

25  under UCL; 

26  xvi. Whether Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Pleskov and Fahad’s 

conduct as described herein, constitute False Advertising Law 
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S  . 

1 
 (Business & Professional Code §17500 et. seq., and the IIFALU) ;  

2  and 

3  xvii. Whether Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class have been 

4 

 

 damaged by Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Pleskov; and Fahad’s 

Conduct and misconduct. 

k 48.  Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class and 

7 
 Sub-Class. Plaintiff and all putative Class Members sustained injuries and 

8 
 

damages arising out of and caused by Defendants Nuance, Fry’s, Fry 

9 
 Brothers, Pleskov and Fahad’s common course of conduct in violation of 

i0 
 

law as alleged herein, and the relief sought is common. 

1’ 
 

49 
 

Typicality among parties exist because, for example, Defendants and 

12  each of them either directly or through their employees, agents, and other 

13  third parties directed by them misrepresented the character of the Dragon 

14 
 Software; and misrepresented and deceived Plaintiff and the Plaintiff 

15 
 

Class and Sub-Class that refund cannot be offered for open software 

16 
 because it was against the federal law. 

17 ’ISO’ Adequacy of Representation: The named Plaintiff will fairly and 

1.8  adequately represent and protect the interests of the members of the 

19 
 Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class. The named Plaintiff has retained counsels 

20  competent and experienced in both consumer protections and class action 

21.  litigations. 

22 1151. Superiority of Class Action: For class claims alleged under California 

Code of Civil Procedure §382, a class action is superior to other available 

24  means for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. 

25 
 

Individual Joinder of all putative Class Members is not practicable, and 

26  questions of law and fact common to the Class predominate over any 

questions affecting only individual members of the Class. Each putative 

8 
 

Class Member has been damaged and is entitled to recovery by reason of 
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. 

1.  Defendants’ illegal policies and/or practices as alleged herein. Class 

 

2  action treatment will allow those similarly situated persons to litigate 

3 
 their claims in the manner that is most efficient and economical for their 

 

4  parties and the judicial system. 

5 52. Ascertainable Class: The proposed Plaintiff’s Class and Sub-Class 

 

6 
 

described hereinabove are ascertainable. Members of the classes 

 

7  described above can be readily identified from personnel files and 

 

8  computer databases maintained by Defendants, Nuance and Fry’s and 

 

9  other records maintained by said Defendants. The litigation of the 

 

i:o  questions of fact and law involved in this action will resolve the rights of 

 

11  all members of the classes and hence will have a binding effect on all class 

 

12  members. The class members are numerous and joinder of all class 

 

113  members is impracticable due to both a reluctance of class members to sue 

 

14 
 

defendants and relatively small monetary recovery for each class member 

 

15 
 

in comparison to the costs associated with separate and individual actions. 

16 153 . Community of Interest: The proposed Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class 

 

17 
 

described hereinabove have a well-defined community of interest in the 

 

18  questions of fact and law to be litigated. The common questions of law 

 

19  and fact arc predominant with respect to the liability issues, relief issues 

 

20  and anticipated affirmative defenses. The named Plaintiff has claims 

 

21  typical of members of the classes alleged above. The named Plaintiff can 

 

22 
 

fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the classes in 

 

23  that there is no conflict between their interests and the interests of the 

 

24  other class members. This action is not collusive. The named Plaintiff 

 

45  and his counsels have the resources to litigate this action and counsels 

 

26 
 

have the experience and the ability required to prosecute this case as a 

class action. 

54. Superiority of Class Adjudication: The certification of a class in this 
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S  . 

1  action is superior to the litigation of a multitude of cases by members of 

2  the Putative classes. Class adjudication will conserve judicial resources 

3  and will avoid the possibility of inconsistent rulings. Moreover, there are 

4  class members who are unlikely to join or bring an action due to, among 

other reasons, their reluctance to sue for financial reasons and/or their 

6  inability to afford a separate action. Finally, equity dictates that all 

7  persons who stand to benefit from the relief sought herein should be 

8  subject to the lawsuit and hence subject to an order spreading the costs of 

9  litigation among the class members in relationship to the benefits 

1.0  received. 

ii 55. Excluded from the Class: Excluded from the Class are: 

1.2  i. Any Judge, Commissioner or Magistrate presiding over this action and 

13  members of their families; 

14  ii. defendant, Defendant’s subsidiaries, parent companies, successors, 
115  predecessors, and any entity in which Defendant or its parent 

16  companies have a controlling interest and their current or former 

17  officers and directors; 

18  iii. Persons who properly execute and file a timely request for exclusion 

19  from the Class and Sub-Class; and 

20  iv. The legal representatives, successors or assigns of any such excluded 

21  persons. Plaintiff anticipates that amending the Class definition may 

22  become proper following discovery. 

23 56. Policies Generally Applicable to the Class: This class action is also 

24  appropriate forcertification because Nuance and Fry’s have acted or 

25  refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Class, thereby 

26  requiring the Court’s imposition of uniform relief to ensure compatible 

standards of conduct toward the members of the Class and Sub-Class, and 

making final injunctive relief appropriate with respect to the Class as a 
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1  whole. Nuance and Fry’s policies challenged herein hinges on Nuance and 

2 
 

Fry’s conduct with respect to the Class as a whole, not on facts or law 

3  applicable only to Plaintiff. Nuance and Fry’s have acted and failed to act 

4  on grounds generally applicable to Plaintiff and the other members of the 

5 
 

Class and Sub-Class, requiring the Court’s imposition of uniform relief to 

6  ensure compatible standards of conduct toward members of the Class. 

57. Plaintiff reserves the right to revise the foregoing " Plaintiff Class and 

8 
 

Sub-Class Allegations" and ’Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class Definitions" 

9 
 

based on facts learned in discovery. 

10 
 XI. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

1. 1 
 Injunctive Relief and Damages 

12 
 Violation of Consumer Legal Remedies Act 

13 
 California Civil Code §*1750  et seq., 

14 
 

(Against All Defendants) 
15 58. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein as though set forth in full, 

16  the tllegations of paragraphs 1 through 57 above. 

T.7 59. Plaintiff and Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class bring this action seeking 

18 
 

injunctive relief pursuant to the Consumer Legal Remedies Act (CLRA), 

19 
 

California Civil Code §1770 and 1780. Section 1770 of the CLRA 

20  specifically prohibits representations that a transaction confers or 

21 
 

involves rights, remedies, or obligations which it does not have or involve 

22  or which are prohibited by law. 

23 60. The Defendants have violated §1.770 of the Act by representing that 

they have rights and remedies that are prohibited by law, specifically that 

the Dragon performs as advertised which it did not and that Fry’s has the 

26  right to refuse refund based on open software because it claims it is 

against the federal law to accept opened software when it is not against the 

$8 
 

law, 
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1 61. Defendants’ policies and Provisions do not fall within the reasonable 

2  expectations of Plaintiff or of the Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class, and is 

3  unduly oppressive. It is, therefore, unlawful, unfair, fraudulent and 

4  unconscionable. 

62. Pursuant to California Civil Code §§ 1770 and 1780, named Plaintiff is 

6  entitled to recover his actual damages sustained as a result of the 

7 
 Defendants’ violations of the CLRA. Such damages include, without 

8 
 limitation, the money Plaintiff suffered due to failure to receive refund, 

’9  three times the amount of the actual loss, other resulting monetary losses 

I’O  and damages, and emotional distress suffered by Plaintiff, which damages 

11:  are in an amount to be proven at trial. 

12 63. Pursuant to California Civil Code §1770 and 1780, named Plaintiff, 

13 
 Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class are entitled to recover their reasonable 

14  attorneys’ fees and costs. 
XII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law 

17 
 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17200, et. seq. 

is  (Against All Defendants) 
19 1164. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein as though set forth in full, 

20  the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 63 above. 

21 1165. California’s Competition Law ("UCL"), Cal Bus. & Prof. Code 17200, 

22  et. seq., protects both consumers and competitors by promoting fair 

23  competition in commercial markets for goods and services. 

24 1166 
 

The UCL prohibits any unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or 

25  practice. A business practice need only meet one of the three criteria to be 

26  considered unfair competition. 

27 67. The utility of consumer product is a material term of any transaction 

because it directly affects a consumer’s choice of, or conduct regarding 
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I  whether to purchase a product or to return it. Any deception or fraud 

2  related to the utility of a product is materially misleading. 

3 68. Likewise, the return policy of a consumer product is a material term of 

4  any transaction because it directly affects a consumer’s choice of, or 

5  conducts regarding, whether to purchase a product. Any deception or 

6 
 

fraud related to the return policy is materially misleading. 

7 69 
 

As described herein, Nuance engaged in fraudulent, unfair and 

8  unlawful business practices as defined by the UCL, by, inter alia: (I) 

. 9  misleading the utility of its Dragon software to consumers through 

10  representations such as those described in Paragraph 1-4,; (ii) 

11  miseprescnting the performance of the Speech Recognition Software; (iii) 

12  encouraging consumers with false promises that you can type as fast as 

13  you speak for the purpose of tricking consumers into buying and using the 

14 
 

Dragon software; (iv) breaching its express warranties in violation of 

15 
 

California Commercial Code 2313, and (v) selling Dragon software that 

16 
 

lacks the advertised abilities. 

17 70. As described herein, Defendant Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Pleskov, and 

18 
 Fahad engaged in fraudulent, unfair and unlawful business practices as 

19 
 

defined by the UCL, by, inter alia: (i) Fry’s trained its employees to 

20  represent to the consumers that it will give full refund within 30 days with 

21  the original receipt; (ii) Fry Brother implemented and directed Pte.skov 

22  and Fahad to enforce policies and practices that violate California and 

23 
 

Fedral Statutes; (iii) defendant Pleskov engaged in unlawful practice of 

24 
 

law by advising consumers that it is against the federal law to accept open 

software for refund; (iv) defendant Fahad misrepresented to consumers 

26  that they can return their merchandise with original receipt within 30 days 

of purchase for full refund; (v) breaching its express warranties in 

violation of California Commercial Code 2313, and (v) representing to 
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1.  consumers that they can return their products for full refund within 30 

 

2 
 

days having knowledge that such policy will not enforced and will be 

3  challenged by Store, managements. 

71. The above affirmative representations made by Defendant Nuance, as 

5  well as other misrepresentations provided by the software creators and 

 

6  Store staff were in fact false. The Dragon did not perform the secretary 

 

7  position it advertised it would perform. It did not execute any faster way 

 

8  to get more information on the PC; it did not keep up with user’s brains; it 

 

9  was 4 not productive on-the-go; it was not performing comfortably, 

 

110  anywhere and with less stress at home, or at work and did not work the way 

 

1. 1  users work; it was not user’s personal secretary and with 99% accuracy, it 

 

12 
 

did not recognize every speech and improve productivity; It did not 

 

13 
 

ignites new levels of productivity by letting user to interact with PC by 

 

1.4  voice; It did not dictate or modify documents, spreadsheets and 

 

15  presentations, send email, search the Web; it did not capture notes on the 

 

1.6  go using a digital recorder and it did not transcribe the audio files back to 

 

17 
 

PC; it did not recognize Speech by simply speaking to change how user 

 

18  works, communicates, creates and lives; it did not turn user’s talk into text 

 

19 
 

faster and more accurately than ever before; it did not speak user’s mind to 

 

20  capture ideas, create content, cruise through email, search the Web, or 

 

21  control the PC. 

22 (72,   The above affirmative policies made by Defendants Fry Bothers, 

 

23 
 

implemented by Fry’s as well as other misrepresentations provided by its 

 

24  employees, Pleskov and Fahad provided that consumers may return their 

 

25  open software for full refund within 30 days;-failed to properly trained its 

 

26  employees and staff to enforce the dictate of the law; failed to inform the 

consumers that open software will not be refunded, or afforded store 

credit; failed to post their return policy in a conspicuous place at the 
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1  entrance of the store and at every cash register; failed to train defendant 

 

2  Plcskov that unauthorized practice of law is a violation of the law; failed 

 

3  to train defendant Pleskov that policy written in the back of the receipt 

 

4  does not constitute valid return policy in violation of the statute and 

 

5  cannot be enforced. 

6 73. Nuance and Fry’s have also violated the UCL’s "unfair" prong by 

 

7  causing substantial injury to consumers through the conduct alleged above. 

 

8  The injuries caused by Nuance and Fry’s unfair conduct are not 

 

9  outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition, 

 

10  and could not reasonably have been known by consumers. Given the 

 

11  information asymmetry between Nuance, Fry’s and consumers regarding 

 

12  the Dragon software and fry’s refund policy, Plaintiff and the Plaintiff 

 

13  Class and Sub-Class could not reasonably have known of the falsity of 

 

14  Nuance and Fry’s representations or avoided the harm those 

 

15  misrepresentations caused. 

16 74. Purther, Nuance, and Fry’s violated the UCL’s "unlawful" prong by 

 

17  breaching their express warranties to Plaintiff and the Plaintiff Class and 

 

18  Sub-Class, in violation of Cal. Corn. Code §2313. Nuance and Fry’s 

 

19  fraudulent marketing practices also violate California’s public policies 

 

20  favoring enforcement of express and implied warranties. 

21 75. Nuance and Fry’s fraud and unfair conduct occurred during the 

 

22  marketing, sale and advertisement of Dragon software program, and 

 

23  therefore occurred in the course of Nuance and Fry’s business practices. 

 

24  This conduct occurred out of and emanated from Defendants’ offices and 
headquarters in California. 

76. Plaintiff and the Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class have suffered harm in 

the form of actual monetary damages as a direct and proxihiate result of 

Nua’nce; Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Pleskov; and Fahad fraudulent and unfair 
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1  conducts. 
2 77. Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17203, Plaintiff seeks an order 

3  enjoining Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Pleskov; and Fahad and other 

.4  employees of defendants Nuance and Fry’s from continuing to engage in 

5  the unfair, unlawful, and fraudulent conduct described herein. Plaintiff 

6  seeks an order (1) requiring Nuance and Fry’s to cease the unfair and 

7  unlawful practices described herein; and (2) awarding reasonable costs 

8  and attorneys’ fees pursuant to Cal. Code of Civil Procedure. §1021.5. 

9 
 XIII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

10 
 Fraudulent Inducement 

1 1.  (Against All Defendants) 
12 178. Pjaintiff realleges and incorporates herein as though set forth in full, 

1.3  the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 77 above. 

14 79. As described with particularity in Paragraph 1, through 23 and 

15 
 throughout all Counts of this Complaint, Nuance and Fry’s have used, and 

1.6  continue to use, marketing tactics they know or reasonably should know 

17  are false and misleading. 

18 80. To induce Plaintiff to purchase the Dragon software, Nuance 

1.9  affirmatively represented to Plaintiff that the software possessed certain 

20  abilities. Specifically, Nuance in house representative and Fry’s sales 

21  representative stated that the Dragon would honestly and accurately 

22  execute faster way to get more information on the PC; it would keep up 

23  with user’s brains; it would be more productive on-the-go; it would 

24  perform comfortably, anywhere and with less stress at home, or at work 

25  and would work the way users work; it was user’s personal secretary and 

26  with 99% accuracy it would recognize every speech and improve 

productivity; It would ignites new.levels of productivity by letting user to 

interact with PC by voice; It would dictate or modify documents, 
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I  spreadsheets and presentations, send email, search the Web; it would 

 

2  capture notes on the go using a digital recorder and it would transcribe the 

 

3  audio files back to PC; it would recognize Speech by simply speaking to 

 

4  change how user works, communicates, creates and lives; it would turn 

user’s talk into text faster and more accurately than ever before; it would 

 

6  speak user’s mind to capture ideas, create content, cruise through email, 

 

7  search the Web, and control the PC. 

.8 81. The utility of a consumer product is a material term of any transaction 

 

9  because it directly affects a consumer’s choice of, or conducts regarding, 

 

10  whether to purchase a product. Any deception or fraud related to the 

 

Ii  utility of a product is materially misleading. 

12 82. As the Dragon developer, Nuance knew that its representation about the 

 

13  Dragon software were false. Nuance intentionally designed its public 

 

14  representations to mislead consumers about the Dragon software, and 

 

15  programmed the Dragon to falsely report that it would recognize every 

 

16  speech with 99% accuracy and to deceive users about their speech and 

 

[7  accent. 

18 83. As one of the giant retailer in California, Fry’s and Fry Brothers knew 

 

19  making policies and implementing them that Fry’s cannot accept opened 

 

20  software was wrong and false. Additionally, Pleskov knew that his 

 

21  representation that it is against the federal law to accept opened software 

 

22  for refund was wrong and false. Further, Defendant Fahad knew that his 

 

23  representation that returns the Software within 30 days of purchase with 

original receipt was wrong and false. Fry’s; Fry Brothers, Pleskov and 

 

25  Fahad intentionally made these public representations to mislead 

 

26  consumers about the refund policy. 

7 84. Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers, Fahad and Pleskov made their 

misrepresentations specifically so as to induce Plaintiff, the Plaintiff 
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1.  Class and the Sub-Class’ reliance. Plaintiff, the Plaintiff Class and 

 

2 
 

Sub-Class did in fact rely upon these misrepresentations and purchased 

 

3  the Dragon Software and attempted to refund it within 30 days to their 

 

4 
 

detriment. 

5 85. As a consumer lacking the requisite technical expertise to 

 

6 
 

independently gauge the Dragon’s underlying functionality, and taking 

 

7 
 

Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers, Fahad and P[eskov’s statements as face value, 

 

.8 
 

Plaijitiff justifiably relied upon these misrepresentations that the Dragon 

 

9  would perform the beneficial tasks advertised and if it did not it can be 

 

:1.0  returned for full refund within 30 days of purchase. 

Ii 86. By using false and fraudulent marketing tactics to misrepresent the 

 

12  Dragon’s actual utility, and the refund policy inducing Plaintiff, Plaintiff 

 

.113 
 

Class and Sub-Class to purchase the Dragon Software based on those 

 

14  misrepresentations, Nuance, Fry’s; Fry Brothers, Fahad and Plcskov have 

 

15  engaged in fraudulent practices designed to mislead and deceive 

 

1.6  consumers. 

17 87. As a result of relying on Nuance, Fry’s; Fry Brothers, Fahad and 

 

18 
 

Pleskov’s misrepresentations, Plaintiff has been damaged in the amount of 

 

19  the Dragon Purchase price and in addition to three times of the actual 

 

20  amolunt. 

21. 88. Plaintiff therefore prays for relief in the amount of the purchase price 

 

22  of Dragon software. Plaintiff further alleges that Nuance, Fry’s; Fry 

 

23 
 

Brothers and Pleskov’s conduct and misrepresentations were made with 

 

24  malice and in conscious disregard of Plaintiff’s rights, thereby entitling 

 

25  him to punitive damages against Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers and Pleskov 

 

26  in an amount sufficient to deter such conduct in the future. 
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1 
 XIV.FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 
 

Breach of Express Warranties 
3 
 

Cal. Comm. Code §2313 
4  (Against All Defendants) 
5 189.  Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein as though set forth in full, 

the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 88 above. 

Pursuant to Commercial Code §2313, Nuance and Fry’s sale of the 

Dragon included express warranties created by Nuance and Fry’s 

affimation of facts and promises through its advertising websites, and in-

10 
 house sales persons representations. 

1.1 1  91. Nuance; and Fry’s express warranties included affirmation of fact and 

12  promises that the Dragon would truthfully recognize all speech including 

1.3 
 

those with accent, act as personal secretary, speak into PC instead of 

14  typing and perform beneficial tasks such as those described in Paragraphs 

15 
 

1-23. In actuality, Nuance fraudulently designed its Dragon Software to 

1.6  recognize speech but failed to do so and Nuance falsely indentify and/or 

exaggerate the ability to recognize speech especially those with accent 

and that Dragon offered meaningless utility to recognize speech including 

19  speech with accent. 

20 92   Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class relied upon Nuance, and Fry’s 
21  affirmations and promises when purchasing the Dragon software, and the 

22  affirmations formed the basis for the bargain, in that Plaintiff, Plaintiff 
23 
 

Class and Sub-Class believed they were purchasing Software that would 

honestly and accurately perform the services identified in Paragraph 1-23 
25 
 

hereinabove. But if not for Nuance and Fry’s affirmations and promises, 
26 
 

Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class would not have purchased the 
Dragon software. 

93. Nuance and Fry’s breached their express warranties because the Dragon 
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1 
 

did not perform and of the services it promised to perform. Rather, it 

 

2  artificially and arbitrarily reported that in order to comprehend speech 

 

3  users must read hours into the software. 

4 94. Nuance and Fry’s breach injured Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and 

 

5 
 

Sub-Class because they purchased a product of diminished value-software 

 

6  that does not actually perform the beneficial tasks represented to them 

 

7  through Nuance and Fry’s affirmations and promises about the utility of 

 

S  the Dragon. 

ig 95. By serving this Complaint, Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class 

 

i0 
 

hereby give Defendants and each of them Notice that they have breached 

 

11  their express warranties and request maximum damages as provided for 

 

12  under California Commercial Code. 

 

13 
 

XV.FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

 

14 
 

Breach of Contract 
(Against All Defendants, Except Pleskov) 

16 96. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein as though Set forth in full, 

 

17  the allegations of paragraphs I through 95 above. 
18 197. Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class entered into agreement with 

 

19 
 

Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brother and Fahad whereby Nuance, Fry’s, Fry 

 

20 
 

Brothers and Fahad agreed to sell, and Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and 

 

ZI 
 

Sub-Class agreed to purchase, Dragon Software that would recognize 

 

22  speech including speech with accent, and perform the beneficial tasks 

 

23 
 

described in Paragraph 1-23. And in the event Dragon did not perform the 

 

24  services as described in Paragraph 1-23, Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad 

 

25  represent that Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class can bring the 

 

26 
 

Dragon software back for full refund with the original receipt within 30 
days from the date of the purchase. 

28 98. Nuance voluntarily assumed a contractual obligation to honestly to 
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. 

1.  reco$nize the speech spoken into the PC including speech with accent; and 

 

2 
 Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad assumed a contractual obligation by selling 

3  the Dragon software that in the event of non-performance, it can be 

 

4  returned for full refund within 30 days of purchase. These obligations are 

.5 

 

 material terms of the agreement. Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad 

did not honor their obligations. 

’7 99. Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad also assumed obligations to 

-  8  provide Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class a product that would 

 

9  perform the services enumerated in paragraphs 1-23; and to issue full 

 

10  refund in the event of non-performance. Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brothers and 

 

ii 
 

Fahad did not honor these obligations. 

12 100. Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class paid, and Nuance, Fry’s, Fry 

 

13 
 Brothers and Fahad accepted the Dragon purchased price including sales 

 

14  tax, and therefore Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class performed their 

 

15  obligations under the contract. 

16 101. Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad breached their contracts with 

 

17 
 

Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class by failing to honestly and 

 

18  accurately inform them about the services Dragon was to perform and the 

 

19  return policy that was offered to them, and failed to offer the benefits 

 

20  promised. 

21 102. The aforementioned breaches of contract have directly and proximately 

 

22  caused Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class economic injury and other 

 

23 
 

damages, because they purchased a product that does not perform as 

 

24 
 

Nuance represented, and they were not able to return it for full refund 

within 30 days with original receipt as Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad 

 

26  represented, and therefore lack the promised and paid-for Dragon 
software. 

28 
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. 

1 
 XVI. SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 
 Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing 

3 
 

(Against All Defendants except Pleskov) 

4 103. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein as though set forth in full, 

5 
 

the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 102 above. 

6 104. In order to benefit from Nuance’s Dragon software supposed speech 

7  recognition software, Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class 

S  affirmatively allowed Nuance to install the Dragon Software on their PCs. 

9 105. Nuance agreement to install software, to register personal information 

10  and to Set up the Dragon to detect speech including speech with accent in 

1.1  the manner described in paragraphs 1-23 in exchange for fees is a valid 
12  and enforceable contract between Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class 

13  on the one hand, and Nuance on the other. 

106. Fry’s, Fry Brothers, and Fahad agreement to sell the Dragon software 

15 
 

for fees and in the event of non-performance as described and advertised 

16  can ;eturn it for full refund within 30 days with the original receipt; is a 

:1.7  valid and enforceable contract between Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and 
18 
 

Sub-Class on the one hand, and Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad on the other. 

19 107. Nuance breached the provisions of the agreement, specifically by not 
20 
 

honoring its responsibilities to perform truthful speech recognition 
21 
 

including speech with accent. 

22 108. Fry’s, Fry Brother and Fahad breached the provision of the agreement, 
23  specifically by not honoring their responsibilities to perform truthful full 
24  refund within 30 days from the date of purchase with original receipt. 

25 109. California law recognizes the implied covenant of good faith and fair 
26 
 

dealing in every Contract. 

110. Implicit in the contract were provisions prohibiting Nuance, Fry’s, Fry 

Bothers, and Fahad from engaging in conduct that frustrated or injured 
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I 
 

. 

1.  Plaintiff’s, Plaintiff Class’ and Sub-Class’s rights to receive the benefits of 

 

2  I1  the contract. 

3 111. Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class sought to receive the 

4 
 

bargaining-for benefit of obtaining a software that performed truthful 

speech recognition including speech with accent as advertise by 

Defendant Nuance; and to receive the benefit of a full refund in the event 

of nbn-performance as advertised by Fry’s, and Fry Brothers and by 

 

8 
 

Defendant Fahad at the time of sell. 

9 112. Rather than provide the bargained-for benefit to Plaintiff, Plaintiff 

 

10 
 

Class and Sub-Class, Defendant Nuance produced Dragon Software that 

Ii 
 

falsely represented speech recognition including speech with accent and 

 

12 
 

failed to perform its advertised functions. Defendant Nuance’s conduct by 

 

13  creating the illusion that the benefits were supplied when in fact, they 

 

14  were not, and leading Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class, and Sub-Class to believe 

 

15  that their contracts had been fulfilled. 

16 113. Rather than provide the bargained-for benefit to Plaintiff, Plaintiff 

 

17 
 

Class and Sub-Class, Defendants Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad created 

 

18  and implemented policy that falsely represented full refund within 30 days 

 

19  of purchase policy and failed to perform its advertised functions. 

 

20 
 

Defendants Fry’s, Fry Brothers, and Fahad’s conduct by creating the 

21  illusion that the benefits were supplied when in fact, they were not, and 

 

22  leading Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class, and Sub-Class to believe that their 

 

23  contracts had been fulfilled. 

24 114. Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad’s misconduct and breach of the 

 

25 
 

implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing as described herein 

 

26  resulted in injury to Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class in the form of 

 

7  price paid at the time of purchase in exchange for fully functional 

 

28  software, and full refund policy, that was knowing and wrongfully 
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.  . 

retained by Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brothers and Fahad. 

XVII. SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violation of California Civil Code §1723 

(Against All Defendants)’ 
11115. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein as though set forth in full, 

the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 114 above. 

116. California Civil Code §1723(a) provides in part as follows: 

Every retail seller which sells goods to the public in this 
state that has a policy as to any of those goods of not 
giving full cash or credit refunds, or of not allowing 
equal exchanges, or any combination thereof, for at 
least seven days following purchase of the goods if they 
are returned and proof of their purchase is presented, 
shall conspicuously display that policy either on signs 
posted at each cash register and sales counter, at each 
public entrance, on tags attached to each item sold 
under that policy, or on the retail seller’s order forms, if 
any. This display shall state the store’s policy, 
including, but not limited to, whether cash refund, store 
credit, or exchanges will be given for the full amount of 
the purchase price; the applicable time period; the types 
of merchandise which are covered by the policy; and 
any other conditions which govern the refund, credit, or 
exchange of merchandise. 

117. On August 11, 2012, Plaintiff entered into Defendant Fry’s retail 

establishment in Burbank, California and did not observe any return 

policy display conspicuously at the public entrance; Plaintiff did not 

observe any tags attached to Dragon at the time he purchased the 

Software, and he did not notice any sign posted at each cash register 

especially the cash register that was being operated by Defendant Fahad. 

In fact Defendant Fahad assuredPlajntjff that if Plaintiff was not satisfied 

with his purchase he could return it for full refund 30 days from the date 
of purchase. 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  Page 32 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

’26 

27 

1.28 

Exhibit A; Page 33 

Case 2:12-cv-08677-PSG-RZ   Document 1-1    Filed 10/10/12   Page 33 of 48   Page ID #:49



. 

 

. 

1. 118. In the event Defendant Fry’s violates Cal. Civ. Code §1723 (a)(1), in 

2  accdrdance with section 1.723 (c)(l), retailers would be liable to the 

3 
 

buyers for the amount of the purchase if the buyers return, or attempt to 
4  return, the purchased goods on or before the 30th day after their 

5  purchases. 

119. Plaintiff purchased Dragon software from Fry’s and sought to return it, 

with proof of original purchase, in good condition, within 30 days of the 
’8  original purchase. 

9 120. Defendant Fry’s failed and refused to provide Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class 
:10  and Sub-Class with cash refunds, store credits or equal exchanges for the 
11.  full purchase prices of the goods they purchased and returned within 30 
12 
 

days of their original purchases. 

13 121. As a result of Defendant Fry’s violation of Section 1723(a), Plaintiff, 
14 
 

Plaintiff Class and the Sub-Class are entitled to damages in the full 
1.5  amount of the purchase prices of the goods that they purchased and 
16  attempted to return. 

17 122. Pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code §1723(c)(2), Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and 
18 
 

Sub-Class are also entitled to remedies specified in the Consumer Legal 
19 
 

Remedies Act (Cal. Civ. Code §1750, et. seq.)(the "CLRA"). As such 
20 
 

Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class request that this court enjoin 
21 
 

Defendant from continuing to engage in the unlawful and deceptive 

22  methods, acts and practices alleged above. Unless Defendant Fry’s are 
23  permanently enjoined from continuing to engage in violation of Cal Civ. 

24 
 

Code § 1723, future consumers will be damaged by the acts and practices 
25 
 

in the same way as have Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class. 

26 123. Pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code §1723(c)(2) and 1780, Plaintiff also 

’4 
27  requests damages, attorneys’ fees, and other relief, as permitted by law. 
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. 

 

1 
 XVIII. EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

 

2 
 Violation of the FAL 

 

3 
 Business & Professional Code §17500 

 

4 
 (Against All Defendants) 

5 124. Plaintiff rea]leges and incorporates herein as though set forth in full, 

 

6 
 

the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 123 above. 

7 125. The False Advertising Law, (the "FAL") prohibits all "unfair, 

 

8 
 

deceptive, untrue and misleading advertising." Section 17500 provides 

that it is unlawful for any persons, firm, corporation, association, or any 

 

10  employee thereof to intentionally, directly or indirectly, perform services, 

 

11  professional or otherwise, or to induce the public to enter into any 

 

12  obligation relating thereto, to make or disseminate in any manner any 

 

p  statement which is untrue or misleading, or which, by the exercise of 

 

14  reasonable care, should be known to be untrue or misleading. 

5 126. Defendants Nuance, Fry’s, Fry Brothers, Pleskov and Fahad as 

 

16 
 

described in this Complaint violate the FAL in that their representations 

 

17  about the Dragon Software and Refund Policy were deceptive, untrue and 

 

18  misleading. Further, consumers in California have an expectation that 

 

19  they may return products for full cash refunds or credits, or equal 

 

20  exchanges, subject to the limitation set forth in Civ. Code §1723, within 7 

 

21 
 days from the date of purchase if return policy is posted conspicuously at 

 

22  the entrance of the store or by cash registers (Cal. Civ. Code §1723(a)); or 

 

23  within 30 days from the date of purchase if return policy is not posted 

 

24  conspicuously at the entrance of the store or by each cash registers (Cal. 

 

25 
 

Civ. Code §1723(c)(1)). Defendants Nuance; Fry’s; Fry Brothers; Plcskov 

 

WO  and Fahad’s failure to comply with Cal. Civ. Code §1723(a), and 

 

27  (c)(1 )was a violation of FAL for failure to accept returned items and give 

 

8 
 

full refunds, credits or exchanges was deceptive and misleading. 
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127. Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class and Sub-Class have been injured by 

Defendants’ violations of the FAL because they were misled into making 

purchases from Defendants and did not receive the full value of items that 

were returned. 

128. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Class and Sub-Class seeks 

restitution of all monies wrongfully withheld from them, attorneys fees 

and ’costs, and a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from 

continuing with their misleading advertising campaigns. 

XIX. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays as follows: 

1. That this Court certifies this case as a class action and appoints Plaintiff 

as class representatives; 

2. That this Court finds and declares the Defendants’ acts and practices as 

described herein to be unlawful, unfair and fraudulent; 

3. That Defendants be permanently enjoined from engaging in the unlawful, 

unfair and fraudulent acts and practices alleged herein; 

4. That Defendants be ordered to disgorge all unjust enrichment obtained 

from the unlawful, unfair and fraudulent acts and practices alleged 

herein; 

5. That Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class, and Sub-Class be awarded compensatory 

damages according to proof at trial; 

6. That Plaintiff, Plaintiff Class, and Sub-Class be awarded punitive 

damages according to proof at trial; 

7. That Defendants be ordered to make restitution to all affected members 

of the general public; 

8. For general, special and consequential damages according to proof; 

9. For pre-judgment interest according to proof; 

10. For any and all other relief under to  and Professional Code 
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I 
 

. 

§17200 and 17500, et. seq., including but not limited to disgorgement 

of money received and profits through Defendants’ unfair business 

practices; 

ii. For any and all relief available under the CLRA; 

12. That Plaintiffs be awarded attorneys’ fees and expenses pursuant to 

California Civil Code §1.780-1781, California Code of Civil Procedure 

§.1021.5, 1750, 17200-17500, 1723, and 2313. 

13. For costs of suit herein incurred; and 

14. For such other and further relief as the court may deem proper. 

XX. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury as to all causes of action so 

triable. 

Respectfully submitted, 

DATED: August 30, 2012  LAW OFFICE OF MOTAZ M. GERGES 

,k4f1 
Motaz M. Gerges, Esq. Attorneys for 
Plaintiff and Class Members 
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